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The Wolfsville Survey District is centered on the intersection of
Wolfsville, Stottlemyer, and Pleasant Walk Roads and the additional junction of
Harp Hill Road near the south end of the village of Wolfsville, a rural
community established in the first decade of the 19th century. The district
contains primarily residences, with an 1847 church with 1893 and later
alterations, a convenience store in a contributing 19th century commercial
building, and three barns and several small domestic outbuildings. One of the
barns is a dated 1819 stone structure with historical significance as a
religious meeting place prior to 1847. The buildings are mostly log, frame,
brick, and stone, with modern alterations and new construction usually in
concrete block, wvinyl, aluminum, and asbestos shingle. The district's
significance is based on its virtually unchanged character as a small
crossroads town of the period 1840-1940. Wolfsville, unlike Myersville and
Middletown, was not on the electric railroad line and did not experience the
sometimes sweeping changes in buildings, architectural styles, and economic
life that the transportation networks brought. It has always been a small
comercial center based on the agricultural and domestic needs of the

surrounding rural area.
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Wolfsville

Frederick County

HISTORTC CONTEXT':

MARYIAND COMPREHENSIVE HISTORIC PRESERVATION PLAN DATA

Geographic Organization: Piedmont
(Harford, Baltimore, Carroll, Frederick, Howard, Montgomery
Counties, and Baltimore City)

Chronological /Development Period:
Agricultural - Industrial Transition, A.D. 1815-1870
Industrial/Urban Dominance, A.D. 1870-1930
Modern Period, A.D. 1930-Present

Prehistoric/Historic Period Themes
Agriculture
Architecture, Landscape Architecture, Community Planning
Economic (Commercial)
Religion

Resource Types:
Category: District
Historic Enviromment: Village

Historic Function and Use:
Domestic/single dwelling/residence
Domestic/secondary structure/smokehouse
Domestic/secondary structure/other dependencies
Commerce/Trade/department store/general store
Commerce/Trade/specialty store
Religion/religious structure/church
Agriculture/subsistence/animal facility/barn

Known Design Source: None
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7.1 Description (Continued)

Following are brief descriptions of the contributing buildings:

Leatherman Store (Harne's Store), 12487 Wolfsville Rd.: The present store
includes two 2-story sections at the southeast corner of the square facing on
both Wolfsville and Stottlemyer Roads, with a small one-story link at the
corner which contains the current main entrance. The exterior of the entire
building is covered with gray composition siding and the roof is standing seam
metal. Incorporated within the building are sections with log structure. The
south section has an elongated west elevation with a five-bay irregular
facade. The southern three bays contain a residence with a one-story porch
covering the entrance which is inserted between two bays . The porch has
turned columns and a scroll-sawn balustrade. The chimneys are interior and
interior end placements, reflecting several periods of addition and enlargement
over many years as the store passed from owner to owner. The sash is 2/2 with

plain frames. The Stottlemyer Road section has a more regular 4-bay facade
with unused entrances at the outer bays on the first story under a full-width
canopy with brackets. The sash is 2/2 with arched frames on the first story

and 6/6 on the second story. A one-story concrete block extension is located
on the east end of the building. The tributary stream runs behind the two
store buildings, separating the store and residence from a concrete block
garage on the south side of the stream, which appears to have been built in the
1930's. The east elevation of the Wolfsville Road section has an open porch
facing the rear of the lot. The store was probably in existence by 1850 and
the 1873 map shows two separate buildings on the site, with the Wolfsville Road
building identified as F. Leatherman's Store. Over the years, the store has
had at least 9 successive owners, the latest owner being the daughter of Milton
W. Harne, who had been the proprietor since 1945.

Salem United Brethren Church (Salem United Methodist Church): Built in 1847
and repuilt in 1893, according to a stone plaque in the gable of the present
building, the original section 1is a one-story hall type church with a gable
roof and a modern foyer on the west elevation. The exterior is covered with
stucco painted white. A steeple with an open belfry stands at the west end of
the composition—covered roof. The north elevation has three bays with 6/6
sash. Adjoining the south elevation is a 1967 Sunday School building also
covered with white stucco. The interior of the church has been much remodeled,
retaining only its one-room plan with new furnishings and fixtures. From about
1819, the United Brethren congregation met in homes and barns, particularly the
Hoover stone barn (described later) at the south edge of the survey district.
The building of the 1847 church signaled the period of modest growth in
Wolfsville, indicating a growing congregation and the ability to finance a
separate building for worship. In 1968, the Brethren Church united with the
Methodists and the church became Salem United Methodist Church.

Stottlemyer Barn and Springhouse, 12463 Wolfsville Rd.: The dwelling on the
north side of Wolfsville Road is a modern structure which replaced an earlier
building probably built by Elias Stottlemyer in the second quarter of the 19th
century. The stone two-level springhouse and the frame bank barn were
associated with the earlier dwelling. The springhouse is located northwest of
the present house and has fieldstone walls with boarded openings on each
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7.2 Description (Continued)

elevation and a lower 1level entrance on the south gable end. The roof is
standing seam metal, and an interior chimney is located on the north
elevation. The frame bank barn is located east of the house with its ramp on
the south elevation opening to Wolfsville Road. It has vertical siding with a
stone foundation and the forebay on the north elevation. The double swing
doors on the south elevation have the traces of painted arches. The roof is
standing seam metal. A concrete block milk house probably built in the 1940's
stands just southwest of the barn.

Hoover House, 12328 Harp Hill Rd.: The two-story stone dwelling was built
about 1819, the date being recorded on the stone barn on the east side of Harp
Hill Road. The house has a three-bay elevation facing east with a late-19th
century one-story porch. The porch has a decorative frieze in a zig-zag style
reminiscent of Chippendale designs. The same frieze is found on the Jefferson
Wolf House, 12504 Wolfsville Rd. The Hoover House has interior end chimneys
and a standing seam metal roof. A two-story rear wing extends from the
northwest corner. The sash is 2/2. Damestic ocutbuildings include a frame
privy and a frame smokehouse, both with vertical siding and standing seam metal
roofs. The stone foundation of a log springhouse is located northwest of the
house. This was demolished in the mid-1980's and was thought to have been the
earliest extant structure in Wolfsville, possibly built prior to 1819 for use
as a dwelling while the stone house was being erected. The Hoover House was
the site of early United Brethren worship services prior to the building of the
church in 1847. In the late 19th and early 20th centuries, until the 1930's,
the house was a summer resort and boarding house called the Hoover House. It
remained in the Hoover family until 1949 when the current owners purchased the

property.

Hoover Barn: Located on the east side of Harp Hill Road directly opposite the
Hoover House, the stone barn dominates the view of Wolfsville from Harp Hill
Road. The plan is the traditional German style stone barn with a banked
entrance on the south and double vertical board swing doors at the top of the
ramp. Narrow vertical vent openings are located in the south, east, and west
elevations. The roof is stand seam and corrugated metal. A frame forebay
extends over the stall 1level on the north elevation. The barn is in rather
deteriorated condition. The date 1819 is found on a stone at the southeast
corner of the building. Currently used for storage, the barn no longer
functions as an agricultural building. The larger early United Brethren
worship meetings took place here as well as in the Hoover House before the
erection of the 1847 church. A centennial commemorative meeting took place in
1919 and other ceremonies have been held in the barn every decade or so.

J. J. G. Hoover House & Store: Probably built about 1845-50, the present
two-story structure may have some log materials within the aluminum-covered
exterior. The basement 1level 1is faced with brick. The house has three
irregular bays with altered windows on the first story and a one-story porch.
The windows are 2/2 and the lintels and frames on the secord story are molded.
A two-story rear wing extends from the northwest corner and an exterior
staircase leads to the second story. A non—contributing garage is also located
on the property. The building was used as a combination residence and
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confectionery store in the late 19th and early 20th centuries; it is currently
a duplex dwelling.

Jacob D. Wolf House; Smith Shoe Shop, 12486 Wolfsville Road: The two-story
fieldstone dwelling is located on the southwest corner of the square and has
four bays with a one-story porch and a two-story rear wing which stands at the
edge of Pleasant Walk Road. Possibly built about 1865, it has double entrances
in the outer bays and 6/6 sash. The standing seam metal roof has a center
chimney. The doors have 6 panels, partially glazed. The rear wing has vinyl
siding. The porch has square posts supported on rusticated concrete block
bases, indicating that it is an early 20th century addition. The house was
purchased by Jacob D. Wolf from Gideon Hoover in 1868. By 1876, Jacob Smith
had acquired the property, having both his residence and a shoe shop in the
house until the early 20th century.

Jefferson Wolf House, 12504 Wolfsville Rd.: The two-story dwelling probably
has log structure under the present aluminum siding. It has three bays with a
one-story porch and a two-story rear addition enlarging a probable smaller
original wing. The windows are 2/2 with replacement shutters on all elevations
except the first story on the east elevation. Here the original fenestration
has been altered, with a picture window replacing the original two bays. The
entrance is in the remaining bay. The roof is standing seam metal and the
chimney is an exterior concrete block type on the north elevation. The rear
wing has a two-story enclosed porch on the north side. A non-contributing
concrete block garage is also on the property. The house may have been built
by 1850 and has remained residential, unlike the other buildings surrounding
the square. Jacob Wolf, Jr. may have built the house, and Jefferson Wolf
acquired it in 1895.

Wolf-Ott Blacksmith Shop, 12432 Wolfsville Rd.: The two-story stone and log
building was apparently built as a blacksmith shop, as one is shown in the
approximate location of the house on the 1873 Titus map. CQurrently it is a
dwelling facing Pleasant Walk Road. The first story is random ashlar stone and
the log and frame upper section is covered with vinyl siding. The original
appearance is difficult to discern with the several periods of alteration that
have occurred. A one-story rear shed addition is on the north side of the
building and the south elevation has a two-story open porch. The roof is
standing seam metal. Windows are replacement 1/1 sash. According to the
Wolfsville history written in 1972, Jefferson Wolf owned the blacksmithy, which
was operated by John Ott. A small frame barn with vertical siding and a
standing seam metal roof is located near the small tributary stream which
crosses Pleasant Walk Road at the west boundary of the survey district. It was
probably built in the 1890's. Near the road just east of the shop was a small
log outbuilding locally known as "Bum's Inn" which was a gathering place in the
late 19th and early 20th centuries. The Wolfsville Bark held practices in it
and other recreational activities took place there. It was demolished possibly
in the 1930's.

Donohoo Store; Stottlemyer Store, 12509 Wolfsville Rd.: Iocated on the
northeast corner of Wolfsville and Stottlemyer Roads, the two story log and
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frame building was built about 1870 as a store and residence by Jacob D. Wolf,
who leased it to several store proprietors over the years until the late
1920's. The building has an irregular bay arrangement resulting from several
changes in use on the west elevation under a full-width one-story porch. The
exterior is covered with german siding. The windows on the second story are
2/2. on the first story is a large central doorway with sidelights probably
added in about 1930 when the last major alteration was made. A second entrance
is located at the north end of the elevation, with a pair of 1/1 windows
between the two doorways. The gable roof is standing seam metal and an
interior chimney is located at the south end. A general store operated by John
Donchoo in the 1870's and 1880's is the first of many commercial uses. The
second story was rented for meetings and was known as Baughman's Hall. In the
late 19th century, at least part of the building was a physician's office, Dr.
Lamar. In 1927, Asa P. Stotelmyer opened an automobile repair garage in the
south end of the building, for which a large opening to the shop was made in
the west elevation. The break in the concrete porch platform indicates the
location of the repair garage; it is now covered by siding and a single window
bay. The rest of the building was Stotelmyer's residence. In 1934, Stotelmyer
opened a general store which operated until 1971. The building is currently in
partial use as office space for George C. Harne, Architect.

Recher House, 12406 Stottlemyer Rd.: The two-story log or frame house had
vinyl siding and an irregular bay arrangement. The first story on the south
elevation has three bays and the second story has two. The windows are 6/6. A
one-story porch with turned columns extends across the facade. The roof is
slate and the chimney is an exterior concrete block replacement of the original
interior end flue. A two-story rear wing has a one-story shed porch on the
east side. A frame garage with composition siding and a standing seam roof is
located behind the house. Probably built about 1880, the house was one of
several store and residence combinations on the north side of Stottlemyer
Road. Amanda and Alberta Recher had a millinery shop in the late 19th century
and other occupants have included a doctor's office and a confectionery shop.

Frame shop, 12406 Stottlemyer Rd.: The small frame building is on the same lot
as the Recher House and has had many commercial uses over time. Built about
1880-1890, it is one story in height with a storage attic. The south elevation
has a gable facade with two bays and a single entrance with 6/6 windows and a
4-panel door. The siding is german and the roof is standing seam metal. A
second entrance is on the west elevation, along with two 6/6 windows. An
extension of the building is attached to the north elevation. The uses of the
building, which is now a storage shed, include a confectionery shop, a butcher
shop, a newspaper office for the Catoctin News which was published in the
1880's and 1890's, a shoe shop operated by Jacob Smith, and a barber shop.

lewis Iamar House; Pryor Store, 12408 Stottlemyer Rd.: The two-story frame
house was probably built about 1877 by Lewis Lamar, a physician. It had three
bays in its original form and a fourth bay has been added to the west end of
the house. The exterior is covered with german siding and the house has two
entries, one in the added bay. The added bay may have been the physician's
office. The windows are 6/6. A one-story porch with turned columns extends
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across the south elevation. The roof is standing seam metal. The chimney is
located at the original west end, now enclosed by the additional bay. Also on
the property are a frame summer Kitchen with asbestos shingle siding and a
starxilng seam metal roof. The windows are 2/2 with molded lintels and the door
is a four-panel type. The chimney is located on the north interior wall. A
frame smokehouse has tongue—-and—groove siding and a composition roof. In the
1920's, Rooklyn Pryor ran a small general store in the first story of the
house.

Dusing House, 12412 Stottlemyer Rd.: Possibly built between 1867 and 1872 by
Elias Dusing, the dwelling is a gable-fronted two-story frame building with
asbestos shingle siding and a one-story porch. It has three bays on the first
story and two on the second story. The sash is 2/2. The porch has turned
columns. The side elevations have irregular bays with similar sash. The roof
is standing seam metal with a central chimney.

Samuel Holter Store, 12416 Stottlemyer Rd.: This two-story brick dwelling was
built as a combination store and residence about 1870. On the 1873 map, S.
Holter 1is shown as the storekeeper and postmaster. The house has stretcher
bond walls painted white, with four bays originally and an added fifth bay on
the east gable end. There are two entrances and 6/6 sash with plain lintels
flanked by paneled shutters on the first story. The roof is standing seam
metal with interior end chimneys. A one-story porch with modern iron columns
extends across the south elevation. A one-story rear shed addition with
asbestos siding extends to the north. A frame garage with a hipped roof and
german siding 1is located northeast of the house. The general store went
through several hands in the late 19th century, including Phleeger and Schroyer
in the 1880's, Jonathan English in the 1890's, and at least two generations of
the Pryor family in the early 20th century.

John Wesley Hoover House, 12415 Stottlemyer Rd.: The two-story brick house had
a five-bay north elevation with a small porch sheltering the center three
bays. Two entrances are located in alternating bays. The windows are 6/6 with
plain 1lintels and sills. The roof is standing seam metal and the chimney is
located at the interior east wall, and a patch at the west end indicates a
removed second chimney in that location. A scroll-sawn bargeboard ornaments
the cornice line. A log or frame smokehouse is located south of the house with
german siding and a composition roof. A frame garage with german siding and a
standing seam gable roof 1is located southeast of the house. A frame chicken
house stands on the south bank of the tributary stream which runs behind the
house. The outbuildings, except the garage, probably date from about 1900.
The garage may have been built in the 1930's. In the Wolfsville history of
1972, the house is described as having been a general store run by John Duble,
the owner in the 1880's, and a boarding house in addition to a residence.

Jacob Wolf House, 12511 Wolfsville Rd.: This house appears on the 1873 Titus
map as one of the Jacob Wolf properties. It has two stories, three bays, and a
cross dgable on the west elevation. A one-story porch extends across the
elevation. The frame house is covered with vinyl siding and the 1/1 sash and
metal shutters are replacements of the originals. The roof is composition



Wolfsville Survey District SURVEY No. F-4-56
Frederick County

7.6 Description (Continued)

material. A polygonal one-story bay is located on the first story. A
two-story rear wing has a two-level open porch. The outbuildings are a small
frame barn with vertical siding and a stone smokehouse with a standing seam
roof and an interior brick chimney. A frame garage with german siding, a
standing seam metal roof, and replacement lift doors is also on the property.
The house was probably built about 1865-1870. From about 1892 to 1940, it was
a millinery shop and residence of George and Lillie Stottlemyer, who added the
bay window as a display window.

Maugans House, 12517 Wolfsville Rd.: This frame house was built about 1897 by
John Maugans, one of the several proprietors of the store now called Harne's
Store. It has an irregular I~plan with an extended gable roof over the small
porch at the angle between the two wings. The porch once extended to the front
of the gable portion of the west elevation, but has been removed. The exterior
is covered with asbestos siding over german siding, visible where the porch
roof has been removed. The roof is standing seam metal. The windows are 2/2
with molded lintels. The chimney is located near the center of the roof. A
rear 2-story wing has a one-story porch with brackets and turned colums. A
frame outbuilding may have been a summer kitchen; it has vertical siding and an
exterior stone and brick chimney with a standing seam metal roof. The house is
currently unoccupied.

Stephens-Warrenfeltz House, 12521 Wolfsville Rd.: This house may have been
built about 1970. It has a traditional vernacular plan with two stories, three
bays, and a one-story porch with turned columns. It has aluminum siding and
1/1 sash. The roof 1is standing seam metal and the chimneys are at the
interior gable ends. A deteriorated frame chicken house and five other
deteriorated frame outbuildings are located east of the house, which is
currently unoccupied. A non-contributing concrete block repair shop built in
1952 is located south of the house.

12536 Wolfsville Rd.: The 2-1/2-story house has a cross gable on the east
elevation with a three-bay facade and a one-story porch wrapped around from the
east to the south elevation. The frame house is covered with vinyl siding and
has a patterned slate roof. The corners of the east elevation are diagonal, a
variation of the 1late 19th century on the traditional plan. The chimneys are
located at the interior ends, one having been replaced with an exterior
concrete block flue. The house was probably built about 1890.

Bungalow, 12544 Wolfsville Rd.: This is the only bungalow in the survey
district. Built about 1929-1930, it has 1-1/2 stories and is covered with
aluminum siding. It has three bays and a one-story porch with tapered columns
on the east elevation. The column bases are brick. The gable roof has a
center dormer with three 3/1 windows. The roof is composition material. A
two-story rear addition with an exterior brick chimney is located on the west
elevation. A frame, hipped roof garage with original battened doors is
located south of the house.
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8. Significance Survey No. F-4-56

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
____prehistoric __ archeology-prehistoric ____ community planning ____ landscape architecture _X_ religion
—_1400-1499 ___ archeology-historic ____ conservation — law ____science
_1500-1599 _X_ agriculture ___ economics ____literature ___ sculpture
—_1600-1699 _X architecture — education — military ___ social/
_ 1700-1799 ____ art ____engineering ____ music humanitarian
X __1800-1899 _ x commerce ___ exploration/settiement ____ philosophy _ theater
X 1900- __x communications — industry ___ politics/government ____ transportation
___invention —_ other (specify)
Specific dates C. 1819-1940 Builder/Architect
check: Applicable Criteria: x A __ B xC _ D
and/or
Applicable Exception: _ A B _C _ D _E _F _ G
Level of Significance: _ national _ state X local

Prepare both a summary paragraph of significance and a general statement of history and
support.

The Wolfsville Survey District is an excellent example of a small rural
community of the early 19th century with minimal changes in its character from about
1819 to 1940. The available 19th century maps of 1858 and 1873 show that the
village has remained a loose assembly of about 15-20 major buildings, mostly
residences or combination stores and residences, with the most growth taking place
roughly during the period from about 1840 to 1900. The town's center has always
been a place of commercial activity, with at least two stores or shops being active
at any point in time from about 1860 to the 1970's. The village is currently mostly
residential, with only one general store building still in operation as a
-snvenience store. The commercial opportunities generated by the meeting of several

Jaral roads and the connection to Smithsburg in Washington County, the nearest large
town, brought the village into being and the dwellings built were those of the
storekeepers, blacksmiths, shoemakers, milliners, and others. The development of
the village remained at a slow pace throughout the late 19th century , unlike the
growth of Myersville and Middletown, which were linked to Frederick and Hagerstown
from 1896 onwards by electric trolley lines, stimulating vigorous growth of housing
and business both in the town and surrounding country. Wolfsville experienced no
effect from the trolley line, the nearest rail line being the Western Maryland stop
in Smithsburg. Even the advent of the automobile did not bring much change to the
town. The buildings are all of the traditional style and materials of the 19th
century: log, frame, brick, and stone. The only touches of national styles are
found in the circa 1930 bungalow and the circa 1897 frame house on the north end of
the survey district. Recent times have brought changes in exterior siding and
roofing, as well as enclosures of rear wings and replacement of garages and
outbuildings by concrete block. The only church in the survey district also shows
the effect of modern building methods, with a stucco exterior over the 1847 stone
original section and a modern Sunday School wing. Only two dwellings built within
the last 20 years are non-contributing, as is the 1972 elementary school.



7. Description Survey No. F-4-56

Condition Check one Check one

—_ excellent — deteriorated _____ unaltered _ X original site

X _ good —— ruins _X aitered —_ moved date of move
X __fair — unexposed

Prepare both a summary paragraph and a general description of the resource and its
various elements as it exists today.

CONTRIBUTING RESOURCE COUNT: 34

The Wolfsville Survey District encompasses approximately 20 acres centered on
the intersection of Wolfsville, Stottlemyer, and Pleasant Walk Roads in the
unincorporated village of Wolfsville, a rural cammnity located in the northern
section of the Middletown Valley in Frederick County, Maryland, which was
established in the first decade of the 19th century and which achieved its greatest
period of growth in the period about 1840-1900. The survey district contains
approximately 41 buildings, of which 33 (80%) contribute to its significance. The
buildings are residences, domestic outbuildings, a general store, a church, and
three barns, one of which is a dated 1819 stone building. The other buildings range
in date from about 1819 to about 1930. The architectural styles represented in the
survey district are principally the vernacular style based on German traditional
dwellings of the late 18th and early 19th centuries, with some influence of the
historical revival styles of the late 19th century apparent in rooflines, window
details, and decorative porch details. The district also has one bungalow of about
1930. The commercial buildings include two general stores, one of which is still in
operation, the other being an office building, and a small frame shop building
currently used for storage. In addition, most of the dwellings have had periods of
use as combined commercial/residential buildings. Among the non-contributing
buildings of the survey district are a small architectural office and a current’
unoccupied repair shop. Most of the other non—contributing buildings are mode.
garages and other outbuildings, and the 1972 Wolfsville School. The stone church,
originally built in 1847 and considerably rebuilt in 1893, has a stucco exterior
with a modern foyer and an adjoining 1967 addition. The buildings of the district
are closely sited in the immediate vicinity of the central crossroads, which is
locally referred to as "the square". The village plan has an additional road
junction near the south end of the survey district, in common with many other towns
and villages of the 19th century, in which road patterns followed physical features
rather than regular plans leading to major junctions.

The predominant building materials are log, frame, brick, and stone, with most
wood buildings having modern artificial siding. Roofs are usually gable types with
standing seam metal, slate or composition coverings. Most huildings have a
one-story porch on the main facade. The condition of the buildings varies from
deteriorated to excellent. The 1873 Titus Atlas map shows Wolfsville had 15
buildings, 12 of which are still extant, in a loose grouping around the square. The
missing buildings include a dwelling which has been replaced with a modern
residence, a blacksmith shop, and an unidentified outbuilding. The envirormment of
the survey district is rural, with open agricultural fields visible from almost any
point in the district. Most of the modern development in the vicinity has taken
place within the past 20 years and remains relatively unobtrusive visually. Middle
Creek runs generally northwest to southeast along the east side of the survey
district, generally forming its eastern boundary, and a small unnamed tributary
crosses the district from west to east, joining the creek just east of the district.

(Continued on separate sheet)
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4. owner Of Property (give names and mailing addresses of all owners)

name Multiple property owners
street & number telephone no.:
city, town state and zip code

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Frederick County Courthouse liber
street & number 100 W. Patrick Street folio
city, town Frederick state Md. 21701

6. Representation in Existing uistorical surveys

title

date ___federal ___state ____ county ___ local

spository for survey records

city, town state
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